Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-11-2019

State v. Engler Appellant's Brief Dckt. 46278

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jerrick James Engler appeals from his Judgments of Conviction. In CR01-18-15605, Mr. Engler was sentenced to unified sentences of ten years, with three years fixed, for his grand theft conviction, and five years, with three years fixed, for his aggravated assault conviction. In CR01-18-22016, he was sentenced to fourteen years, with three years fixed, for his grand theft conviction, and ten years, with three years fixed, for his burglary conviction. Mr. Engler asserts that the district court abused its discretion in sentencing him to excessive sentences without properly considering the mitigating factors that exists in his cases.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

In CR01-18-15605, an Information was filed charging Mr. Engler with two counts of grand theft, aggravated assault, use of a deadly weapon, and misdemeanor battery. (R., pp.30-31.) The charges were filed after Mr. Engler was detained by citizens because he allegedly stole a woman's purse from her cart, ran off, and then threatened another individual with a knife. (PSI, pp.3-4.)¹ Mr. Engler entered a guilty plea to one count of grand theft and aggravated assault. (R., pp.41-42.) The remaining charges were dismissed. (R., p.60.)

In CR01-18-22016, an Information was filed charging Mr. Engler with six counts of grand theft and two counts of burglary. (R., pp.98-100.) The charges were filed after Mr. Engler was identified as the individual who had taken a woman's purse from a cart and used her credit cards to make purchases later that same day. (PSI, p.4.) He entered a guilty plea to one count of grand theft and one count of burglary. (R., p.102.) Pursuant to plea negotiations, the remaining charges were dismissed. (R., p.121.)

The cases were consolidated. (R., pp.56, 114.) At sentencing, the State recommended unified sentences of ten years, with three years fixed, for the grand theft charge; five years, with three years fixed, for the aggravated assault charge; fourteen years, with three years fixed, for the other grand theft charge; and ten years, with three years fixed for the burglary charge. (Tr. 8/2/18, p.32, Ls.7-15.) Defense counsel requested that Mr. Engler be allowed to participate in a period of retained jurisdiction. (Tr. 8/2/18, p.38, Ls.2-3.) The district court imposed unified sentences of ten years, with three years fixed, for his grand theft conviction; five years, with three years fixed, for his aggravated assault conviction; fourteen years, with three years fixed, for

¹ For ease of reference, the electronic file containing the Presentence Investigation Report and attachments will be cited as "PSI" and referenced pages will correspond with the electronic page numbers contained in this file.

his other grand theft conviction; and ten years, with three years fixed, for his burglary conviction. (R., pp.60-62, 121-123.) Mr. Engler filed Notices of Appeal timely from each of his Judgments of Conviction. (R., pp.68-69, 129-130.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its sentencing discretion?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed Excessive Sentences Upon Mr. Engler

Mr. Engler asserts that, given any view of the facts, his unified sentences of ten years, with three years fixed, for his grand theft conviction; five years, with three years fixed, for his aggravated assault conviction; fourteen years, with three years fixed, for his other grand theft conviction; and ten years, with three years fixed, for his burglary conviction years, are excessive. Where a defendant contends that the sentencing court imposed an excessively harsh sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent review of the record giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest. *See State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771 (Ct. App. 1982).

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that, “[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.” *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (quoting *State v. Cotton*, 100 Idaho 573, 577 (1979)). Mr. Engler does not allege that his sentence exceeds the statutory maximum. Accordingly, in order to show an abuse of discretion, Mr. Engler must show that in light of the governing criteria, the sentence was excessive considering any view of the facts. *Id.* (citing *State v. Broadhead*, 120 Idaho 141, 145 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown*,

121 Idaho 385 (1992)). The governing criteria or objectives of criminal punishment are: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing. *Id.* (quoting *State v. Wolfe*, 99 Idaho 382, 384 (1978), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Coassolo*, 136 Idaho 138 (2001)).

Appellate courts use a three-part test for determining whether a district court abused its discretion: (1) whether the court correctly perceived that the issue was one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 143 (2008) (citing *Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.*, 119 Idaho 87, 94 (1991)).

Mr. Engler asserts that the district court failed to give proper weight and consideration to the mitigating factors that exist in his case and, as a result, did not reach its decision by an exercise of reason. Specifically, he asserts that the district court failed to give proper consideration to his admitted substance abuse problem and desire for treatment. Idaho courts have previously recognized that substance abuse and a desire for treatment should be considered as a mitigating factor by the district court when that court imposes sentence. *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89 (1982).

Mr. Engler began using illegal substances as a child, using alcohol at the age of eight, prescription drugs at the age of eleven, marijuana at the age of twelve, heroin at the age of fifteen, cocaine and designer stimulants at the age of sixteen, and methamphetamine at the age of eighteen. (PSI, pp.16-17, 24.) He wants to stop using because he misses his “family and loved ones” and does not want to continue to hurt them through his substance abuse. (PSI, p.17.) He

recognizes that drug treatment is necessary. (PSI, p.17.) He has a series of diagnoses related to his substance abuse including: Stimulant Use Disorder – Amphetamine Type, Severe – In a Controlled Environment; Opioid Use Disorder, Severe, In a Controlled Environment; Alcohol Use Disorder, Severe – Early Remission in a Controlled Environment; Cannabis Use Disorder, Severe – Early Remission in a Controlled Environment; Stimulant Use Disorder - Cocaine Type, Severe – Early Remission in a Controlled Environment; and Sedative, Hypnotic, or Anxiolytic Use Disorder, Severe – Early Remission in a Controlled Environment. (PSI, pp.25, 40.) It was recommended that he participate in Level II.1 Intensive Outpatient Treatment. (PSI, p.38.)

Additionally, Idaho courts have previously recognized that Idaho Code § 19-2523 requires the trial court to consider a defendant’s mental illness as a sentencing factor. *Hollon v. State*, 132 Idaho 573, 581 (1999). Mr. Engler has been previously diagnosed with “ACHD, OCD, bipolar disorder, and anxiety.” (PSI, p.16.) He has a history of attempting suicide and engaging in cutting. (PSI, p.16.) Recently, he was diagnosed with Rule Out Unspecified Anxiety Disorder – Provisional, Rule Out Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder – Combined presentation, and Rule Out Conduct Disorder. (PSI, pp.26, 40.)

Furthermore, Mr. Engler has expressed his remorse for committing the instant offense. In *State v. Alberts*, 121 Idaho 204 (Ct. App. 1991), the Idaho Court of Appeals reduced the sentence imposed, “In light of Alberts’ expression of remorse for his conduct, his recognition of his problem, his willingness to accept treatment and other positive attributes of his character.” *Id.* 121 Idaho at 209. Mr. Engler has expressed his remorse for committing the instant offense stating, “I apologize to those who had to suffer due to my cowardence [sic] and weakness. You shouldn[’]t have been hurt. I ask the courts to see that this time I want to help myself so this doesn[’]t happen again.” (PSI, p.18.) At the sentencing hearing, he noted:

Your Honor, I'd just like to say that I do recognize what I did was wrong and I want to be able to pay her -- both my victims back any way I can.

I understand that the last couple of years for me have been rough with my drug use and I've made a lot of decisions that I shouldn't have. I do regret those decisions now, and I look forward to the opportunity to try to figure out more about myself and why I've done what I did so I don't do it again.

(Tr. 8/2/18, p.40, L.24 – p.41, L.7.)

Based upon the above mitigating factors, Mr. Engler asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing excessive sentences upon him. He asserts that had the district court properly considered his substance abuse, desire for treatment, mental health issues, and remorse, it would have crafted a less severe sentence and allowed him an opportunity to participate in a period of retained jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Engler respectfully requests that this Court enter orders retaining jurisdiction or reduce his sentence in any other way it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.