Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-7-2019

State v. Engler Respondent's Brief Dckt. 46278

A. Introduction

Jerrick Engler went to an Albertsons store, snatched a shopper’s purse from her cart, and used her credit card twice that same day. (PSI, p. 4.) About a year later, Engler went to a Fred

Meyer store, snatched a shopper's purse from her cart, and, when a citizen tried to stop him, he both punched and pulled a knife and threatened the man. (PSI, p. 3.) Engler was arrested in the course of the second offense, leading to police also solving the first offense. (PSI, pp. 3-4.) The first victim reported an initial loss of about \$1,845.00, and the second victim reported a loss of \$2,987.38. (PSI, pp. 3-5.)

For the 2017 incident the state charged Engler with six counts of grand theft and two counts of burglary. (R., pp. 98-100.) For the 2018 incident the state charged Engler with two counts of grand theft, aggravated assault, with a deadly weapon enhancement, and battery. (R., pp. 30-31, 39-40.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Engler pled guilty to two counts of grand theft, aggravated assault, and burglary, and the state dismissed the remaining charges. (R., pp. 41-52, 102-11; 6/6/18 Tr., p. 9, L. 14 – p. 12, L. 6; 5/31/18 Tr., p. 5, L. 12 – p. 6, L. 13.) The state agreed to recommend concurrent sentences of 10 years with three years determinate for the burglary, five years with three years determinate for the aggravated assault, ten years with three years determinate for one grand theft, and 14 years with three years determinate for the other grand theft. (R., pp. 51, 110; 6/6/18 Tr., p. 11, Ls. 14-18; 5/31/18 Tr., p. 5, L. 22 – p. 6, L. 3.) The district court imposed concurrent sentences of 10 years with three years determinate for the burglary, five years with three years determinate for the aggravated assault, ten years with three years determinate for one grand theft, and 14 years with three years determinate for the other grand theft. (R, pp. 60-62, 121-23.)

Engler argues the district court abused its discretion asserting the court “failed to give proper weight and consideration to the mitigating factors” in the case. (Appellant's brief, pp. 4-6.) Engler's hope that the court would have given more weight to factors he considers mitigating does not show an abuse of discretion.

B. Standard Of Review

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant's entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. Id. (citing State v. Trevino, 132 Idaho 888, 980 P.2d 552 (1999)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)).

When considering whether the sentence was an abuse of discretion, "this Court considers: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason."

State v. Fisher, 162 Idaho 465, 398 P.3d 839, 842 (2017) (quoting State v. Miller, 151 Idaho 828, 834, 264 P.3d 935, 941 (2011)).

C. Engler Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court's Discretion

To bear the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). In determining whether the appellant met this burden, the court considers the entire sentence but, because the decision to release the defendant on parole is exclusively the province of the executive branch, presumes that the determinate portion will be the period of actual incarceration. State v. Bailey, 161 Idaho 887, 895, 392 P.3d 1228, 1236 (2017) (citing Oliver, 144 Idaho at 726, 170 P.3d at 391). To establish that the sentence was excessive, the appellant must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was

appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. Farwell, 144 Idaho at 736, 170 P.3d at 401. A sentence is reasonable ““if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.”” Bailey, 161 Idaho at 895–96, 392 P.3d at 1236–37 (quoting State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2015)).

In imposing sentences, the district court applied the relevant legal standards. (8/2/18 Tr., p. 42, Ls. 1-23.) The district court noted that Engler had a prior felony conviction, for which he served a rider, was released on probation, and then violated his probation “within one month.” (8/2/18 Tr., p. 44, Ls. 13-22.) He then violated the terms of his release and absconded, was arrested again, and given a second rider. (8/2/18 Tr., p. 44, L. 22 – p. 45, L. 3.) The district court determined that Engler “had been an IV drug user, stealing purses from little old ladies and burglarizing cars and perhaps homes [and] selling drugs to support his addiction.” (8/2/18 Tr., p. 45, Ls. 4-8.) The district court also noted that Engler had been subject to jail discipline for “assaultive behavior; having threatened to kill a deputy and his family.” (8/2/18 Tr., p. 45, Ls. 14-16.)

The district court also considered mitigation. Specifically, that Engler obtained his GED, “admits that he needs substance abuse treatment,” and “has significant mental illness issues.” (8/2/18 Tr., p. 45, L. 17 – p. 46, L. 7.) However, Engler still posed a high risk of recidivism, and the court stated it did not believe that more programming would do any good. (8/2/18 Tr., p. 46, Ls. 8-24.) The court therefore concluded that the sentences were necessary to protect the community. (8/2/18 Tr., p. 47, Ls. 1-19.) Engler does not challenge the district court’s findings, and those findings support the reasonableness of the sentence imposed.

On appeal Engler argues the district court “failed to give proper weight and consideration to the mitigating factors.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 4.) His invitation to simply re-weigh the evidence shows no abuse of discretion. The district court’s view that cumulative sentences of 14 years with three years determinate on the four felonies before it were necessary to protect the community from Engler’s ongoing and repeated criminal activities is reasonable.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.